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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MONTANA

BILLINGS DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

vs.

TAWNYA BEARCOMESOUT,

Defendant.

Case No. CR-16-13-BLG-SPW

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF
DEFENDANT’S

MOTION TO DISMISS THE
INDICTMENT:

DOUBLE JEOPARDY

I. Introduction

In the unique circumstances of this case – Congress’ plenary power over the

tribes, the general erosion of any real tribal sovereignty, the Northern Cheyenne

Constitution’s dependence on the executive authority of the United States – the

Tribe’s prior prosecution of Ms. Bearcomesout derived from the same ultimate

source.  Double jeopardy bars her subsequent prosecution. 
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II. Background

Tawnya Bearcomesout (Ms. Bearcomesout) is charged in a two-count

Indictment which claims in the first count that on November 22, 2014, in Lame Deer,

in the State and District of Montana, and within the exterior boundaries of the

Northern Cheyenne Indian Reservation, being Indian country, she, asserted to be an

Indian person, unlawfully killed B.B. while in a sudden quarrel or heat of passion,

and recklessly with extreme disregard for human life, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 

1153(a) and 1112(a).  The second count alleges on the same date and at the same

location Ms. Bearcomesout, allegedly an Indian person, committed a lawful act, done

in an unlawful manner and with wanton or reckless disregard for human life, knowing

that such conduct was a threat to the lives of others and knowing of such

circumstances that would reasonably cause the defendant to foresee that such conduct

might be a threat to the lives of others, that unlawful act being the proximate cause

of the death of B.B., also in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1153(a) and 1112(a).  (Doc. 1).

Prior to the federal Indictment, Ms. Bearcomesout was charged in Northern

Cheyenne Tribal Court with crimes arising, at least in part, from the events detailed

above.  Pursuant to a negotiated settlement with the Tribal Prosecutor, she entered an

Alford plea.  The Tribal Judge accepted the plea and imposed sentence, indicating the

plea was entered with the understanding “that a defense of self-defense would be a
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jury question and is somewhat uncertain” and “that an acquittal in tribal court would

make a federal prosecution more likely.”  See Exhibit 501.  A tribal court sentence

would be served locally, as opposed to distant federal incarceration.  Id.  Apparently

recognizing the possibility that the federal authorities would charge her, the Tribal

Judge recommended any federal sentence be served concurrently with tribal time.  In

the hope that no federal prosecution would follow – a quid pro quo – Ms.

Bearcomesout voluntarily entered her plea and was sentenced.

With good conduct time and other credits, she had completed the vast majority

of her tribal two year custodial term when served with a federal indictment and

arraigned on these charges.  She now faces additional (and substantial) prison time

if convicted in the United States District Court.

III. Legal Analysis and Argument

The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States

Constitution provides “nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be

twice put in jeopardy of life or limb.”  U.S. Const. Amd. V.  A person who violates

the laws of two independent sovereigns commits an offense against each, and thus a

second prosecution is not for “the same offence.”  Heath v. Alabama, 474 U.S. 82, 88

(1985) (emphasis added).  For nearly a century courts have recognized that “the

United States can punish the same conduct already punished by one of the several
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states without violating the Double Jeopardy Clause.”  United States v. Lanza, 260

U.S. 377, 43 S.Ct. 141 (1922).  But there are exceptions to the rule.  See e.g. Bartkus

v. People of State of Illinois, 359 U.S. 121, 123–24, 79 S.Ct. 676 (1959) and United

States v. Zone, 403 F.3d 1101, 1105 (9th Cir. 2005).  Lower courts have consistently

sustained this view as well.  See e.g., United States v. Mikka, 586 F.2d 152 (9th Cir.

1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 921, 99 S. Ct. 1247 (1979).

It has long been held that the separate sovereign rationale is applicable to

Indian tribal courts – tribal and federal prosecutions are brought by separate

sovereigns unaffected by the protection against double jeopardy.  United States v.

Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313, 98 S. Ct. 1079 (1978).  Thus, when an Indian tribe conducts

a criminal prosecution in tribal court for crimes occurring in Indian country, it “acts

as an independent sovereign, and not as an arm of the Federal Government.” 

Wheeler, 435 U.S. at 329.  See also United States v. Tsinnijinnie, 91 F.3d 1285 (9th

Cir. 1996) (Navajo defendant’s conviction for sexually abusing a minor upheld in

federal court after defendant pled guilty in tribal court for engaging in the same

conduct).

The Wheeler Court’s view was simple – because a tribe’s power to enforce

tribal law emanates from “retained tribal sovereignty,” tribal prosecutions are not

governed by provisions of the federal Constitution.  Wheeler, 435 U.S. at 323-324. 
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That simple view has garnered intense criticism in later Supreme Court cases to the

point where the concept of tribal sovereignty is in question.  And in this case, the

Northern Cheyenne Constitution (Exhibit 502) undermines the concept of sovereignty

entirely.  As discussed below, the Northern Cheyenne tribe and the United States are

not separate sovereigns.

A. The law has evolved since Wheeler to the extent that Tribes are not
sovereign for the purpose of the Double Jeopardy clause,
particularly given the unique facts in this case.

The Double Jeopardy Clause only bars successive prosecutions if those

prosecutions are brought by the same sovereign.  United States v. Lanza, 260 U.S.

377, 382 (1922).  “Sovereignty” is defined by a single criterion:  the “ultimate source”

from where the respective prosecution derives its power to prosecute.  United States

v. Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313, 320 (1978).  The Supreme Court recently addressed the

dual-sovereignty inquiry as it concerned the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico.  See

Puerto Rico v. Sanchez Valle, 579 U.S. ___, 2016 WL 3189527 (June 9, 2016)

(holding the Double Jeopardy Clause bars Puerto Rico and the United States from

successive prosecution for the same conduct because the ultimate source of Puerto

Rico’s sovereignty is Congress).  

In Sanchez Valle, the United States Supreme Court indicated in dicta that

Indian tribes count as separate sovereigns because, like a State’s prosecution, a tribal
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prosecution is “attributable in no way to any delegation . . . of federal authority.”

Sanchez Valle, at *6 (quoting Santa Clara, 436 U.S. at 56).  Justice Thomas, while

concurring with the Sanchez Valle holding, expressed his concerns regarding Indian

law precedents.  Citing to his concurrence in United States v. Lara, 541 U.S. 193,

200, 124 S. Ct. 1628 (2004), Justice Thomas stated he could not join the portions of

the Sanchez Valle opinion that discussed application of the Double Jeopardy Clause

to successive prosecutions involving Indian tribes.  Sanchez Valle, at *11 (Thomas,

J., concurrence in part and concurrence in the judgment).

In United States v. Lara, 541 U.S. 193, 200, 124 S. Ct. 1628 (2004), the Court

held the Double Jeopardy Clause did not prohibit the federal government from

proceeding with its prosecution because the tribe acted as a sovereign, independent

authority.  Lara, 541 U.S. at 210.  In so holding, the Supreme Court described

Congress’ powers to legislate with respect to Indian matters as “plenary and

exclusive.”  Such description arose from previous decisions where the Supreme Court

has consistently interpreted Congress’ authority to legislate in matters involving

Indian affairs broadly.  See, e.g., South Dakota v. Yankton Sioux Tribe, 522 U.S. 329,

343, 118 S. Ct. 789 (1998) (“Congress possesses plenary power over Indian affairs,

including the power to modify or eliminate tribal rights.”); Cotton Petroleum Corp.

v. New Mexico, 490 U.S. 163, 192, 109 S. Ct. 1698 (1989) (“[T]he central function

Federal Defenders of Montana P:\Gallagher\DOCS\BearComesOut\CourtDocs\Mtn_Dism_Memo.wpd
2702 Montana Avenue
Billings, MT 59101

6

Case 1:16-cr-00013-SPW   Document 26   Filed 06/16/16   Page 6 of 17



of the Indian Commerce Clause is to provide Congress with plenary power to

legislate in the field of Indian affairs[.]”) (citing Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535,

551–52, 94 S.Ct. 2474 (1974)).

Although officially a 7-2 decision,1 the Lara majority opinion generated an

interesting concurring opinion by Justice Clarence Thomas that drives Ms.

Bearcomesout’s constitutional challenge to this federal prosecution.  Justice Thomas

felt “the tribes either are or are not separate sovereigns, and our federal Indian law

cases untenably hold both positions simultaneously.”  United States v. Lara, 541 U.S.

at 215 (Thomas, J., concurring in judgment).  He opined that what he called the

“residual-sovereignty theory” ignores that tribes are “not part of [the] constitutional

order, and their sovereignty is not guaranteed by it.”  Id. at 218-19.   If one accepts

the theory that Congress has the authority to regulate tribal sovereignty, the result in

Wheeler, which affirmed the inherent nature of tribal sovereignty, is “questionable”

and may have been incorrectly decided.  Id. at 217.  

Justice Thomas did “not necessarily agree that the tribes have any residual

inherent sovereignty or that Congress is the constitutionally-appropriate branch to

1  Justice Kennedy only concurred in the result because he believed that any
challenge to congressional power reaffirming tribal power to prosecute non-member
Indians should have been raised during the tribal prosecution, and not the subsequent
federal one.
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make adjustments to sovereignty.”  Id. at 224.  Calling federal Indian policy

“schizophrenic,” the Justice observed that it “is quite arguably the essence of

sovereignty not to exist merely at the whim of an external government.”  Id. at 218. 

Ultimately, in the spirit of stare decisis, he concurred with the majority, but Justice

Thomas expressed profound concern:  “The Federal Government cannot

simultaneously claim power to regulate virtually every aspect of the tribes through

ordinary domestic legislation and also maintain that the tribes possess anything

resembling ‘sovereignty.”’ Id. at 225.

Again, Justice Thomas reiterated those concerns in Sanchez Valle, as did

Justice Breyer and Justice Sotomayor who dissented.  The majority in Sanchez Valle

explained the ultimate source of the tribes independence can be traced back to when

they were “self-governing sovereign political communities.”  Wheeler, 435 U.S. at

322-323.  As such, tribes remain sovereign for purposes of the Double Jeopardy

Clause only “until” Congress chooses to withdraw the plenary power it has.  If that

is true, Justices Breyer and Sotomayor question how Congress is not the source of the

Indian tribes’ criminal enforcement power, since by refraining to withdrawing its

power, Congress is – by inaction – choosing still to grant the tribes sovereignty. 

Sanchez Valle, at *13.
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Ms. Bearcomesout shares the view expressed by the dissent in Sanchez Valle. 

The relationship between the Tribe and the federal government makes her dual

prosecution impermissible, because, unlike the  states, tribal governments exist at the

behest of the United States government.  The instant federal prosecution violates Ms.

Bearcomesout’s constitutional protection against double jeopardy.  As a general

principle, Tribes are not separate sovereigns.  In the specific case of the Northern

Cheyenne Tribe, plenary federal control underscores the lack of sovereignty.  The

United States is the ultimate source of Northern Cheyenne tribal governance.

First, “the Indian tribes come under the territorial sovereignty of the United

States and their exercise of separate power is constrained so as not to conflict with the

interests of this overriding sovereignty.”  Oliphant v. Suquamish Indian Tribe, 435

U.S. 191, 209, 98 S. Ct. 1011 (1978) (the holding adversely affected by statute as

recognized in United States v. Lara, 541 U.S. 193, 124 S. Ct. 1628 (2004)).  The

existence of Congress’ legislative power over criminal offenses on Indian lands has

been upheld consistently since it was firmly established in the Nineteenth Century in

United States v. Rogers, 45 U.S. (4 How.) 567 (1846), and United States v. Kagama,

118 U.S. 375 (1886).  Congress followed defining “Indian country” in part as “. . . all

dependent Indian communities within the borders of the United States whether within

the original or subsequently acquired territory thereof . . . .” 18 U.S.C. § 1151(b)
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(emphasis added).  The Supreme Court has consistently confirmed that the Indian

tribes are subject to the jurisdiction of the federal government.2

Second, the tribal sovereignty schizophrenia diagnosed years later in Lara by

Justice Thomas was present the year before Wheeler in United States v. Antelope, 430

U.S. 641 (1977).  Although in a different context, in discussing dependent status of

Indians as a people, the Antelope Court said the federal legislature’s power to impose

regulations “is governance of once-sovereign political communities.”  Id. at 646

(emphasis added).  See also United States v. Zepeda, 792 F.3d 1103, 1110 (9th Cir.

2014) (describing tribes as “once-sovereign” quoting Antelope).

Third, limitations imposed on tribal court jurisdiction show the absence of dual

sovereignty.  For instance, in Nevada v. Hicks, 533 U.S. 353 (2001), the Supreme

Court said tribal courts do not automatically have jurisdiction over disputes involving

nonmembers just because the dispute occurs on reservation land.  The state still has

jurisdiction over reservation land when the dispute involves nonmembers.  In another

case, the Supreme Court said where nonmembers are concerned, “the exercise of

tribal power beyond what is necessary to protect tribal self-government or to control

2   See generally Vanessa J. Jimenez and Soo C. Song, Concurrent Tribal and
State Jurisdiction Under Public Law 280, 47 AM. UNIV. L. REV. 1627 (1998);Felix
Cohen, Handbook of Federal Indian Law (1982); William Canby, American Indian
Law (1988);  Robert Clinton, Criminal Jurisdiction Over Indian Lands: A Journey
Through A Jurisdictional Maze, 18 ARIZ. L. REV. 521 (1976).
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internal relations . . . cannot survive without express congressional delegation.” 

Montana v. United States, 450 U.S. 544, 564 (1981).

In the process of reaching its result in Lara, the Supreme Court made two

related findings. Lara first held that the extent of tribal sovereignty is not a

constitutional question.  Lara, 541 U.S. at 205 (stating that “the Constitution does not

dictate the metes and bounds of tribal autonomy”).  Next, the Court founded its

holding on the notion that because Congress has plenary power over Indian tribes, it

can re-calibrate the metes and bounds of tribal sovereignty.  Id. at 202.  However,

implicit in these two findings is a third:  the reason the extent of tribal sovereignty is

not a constitutional question is that Congress has plenary power to increase (perhaps

within limits) or reduce (apparently without limits) the extent of tribal sovereignty. 

This begs the question presented here:  With such blanket power, is Wheeler still

viable?  Are the tribes truly sovereign?

The law has evolved since Wheeler to the extent that tribes are not sovereign

for the purpose of the Dual Sovereignty Doctrine.  Indian tribes are recognized as

quasi-sovereign entities that may regulate their own affairs except where Congress

has modified or abrogated that power by treaty or statute.” United States v. Begay,

42 F.3d 486, 498 (9th Cir. 1994) (emphasis added).   As developed in recent years,

the concept of self-governance and sovereignty in any true sense is essentially the
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product of the federal government’s legislative largess when it comes to the Tribes. 

With that level of dominion, unlike the states which voluntarily joined to form the

United States, the tribes are subject to the external whim of the United States.  As

subject entities, the Dual Sovereignty Doctrine cannot be applied to Indian Tribes.

The sovereignty schizophrenia decried by Justice Thomas is even more stark

when Exhibit 502, the Constitution of the Northern Cheyenne Tribe, is considered. 

With the requirements for approval by the Secretary of the Interior throughout the

Tribe’s Constitution (see e.g., Exhibit 502, pp. 1-6, 10-11), subservience of the Tribe

to the federal government is unassailable.  The United States is the ultimate source

of the tribe’s existence as a political entity.  The federal government not only

regulates tribal sovereignty, the federal government dissuades it.  

Any remaining vitality in the rationale underpinning Wheeler is undermined

to the point that a prosecution in Northern Cheyenne Tribal Court is in essence a

federal prosecution.  The express limitations imposed on Northern Cheyenne tribal

government in its formation document foreclose independence and sovereignty. 

Stated differently, the charter of the Northern Cheyenne Tribe’s very existence is

exclusively controlled by a superior political entity, the United States government,

through its Executive Branch agency, the Department of the Interior.
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Thus, based on either the general erosion of tribal sovereignty emanating from

the development of the law from Wheeler to Sanchez Valle, or the specific restrictions

on tribal independence expressed in the Northern Cheyenne Constitution, Ms.

Bearcomesout’s prosecution in the United States District Court, following conviction

of a like offense in Tribal Court (based on the same acts), violates Double Jeopardy

protections guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment.

B. This federal prosecution runs afoul of the Double Jeopardy clause
because the Northern Cheyenne tribal prosecution was thoroughly
dominated by the United States government.

Ms. Bearcomesout’s double jeopardy claim should also be considered in light

of the exception to the dual sovereignty doctrine expressed in Bartkus v. People of

State of Illinois, 359 U.S. 121, 123-24, 79 S.Ct. 676 (1959).  The Bartkus Court

suggested that the dual sovereignty doctrine might be overcome if one jurisdiction

was acting as a “tool” of another, or if a state prosecution was “a sham and a cover

for a federal prosecution.”  This statement has given rise to the so-called Bartkus

exception, recognized by the Ninth Circuit.  See e.g. United States v. Bernhardt, 831

F.2d 181, 182–83 (9th Cir. 1987) and United States v. Guy, 903 F.2d 1240 (9th Cir.

1990).

The defense recognizes that “[a]s a practical matter . . . under the criteria

established by Bartkus itself it is extremely difficult and highly unusual to prove that
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a prosecution by one government is a tool . . . for the other government.”  United

States v. Figueroa-Soto, 938 F.2d 1015, 1019 (9th Cir. 1991).  Evidence of close

coordination and resource-sharing between state and federal authorities is insufficient

to establish a Bartkus claim.  Figueroa-Soto, 938 F.2d at 1019-20.   Admittedly,

cooperation and collaboration are insufficient as well.  But consecutive criminal

proceedings are barred when one entity thoroughly dominates or manipulates the

other’s prosecutorial machinery.  United States v. Zone, 403 F.3d 1101, 1105 (9th Cir.

2005).  Northern Cheyenne tribal government prosecution was and is thoroughly

dominated by the federal government.

The burden of establishing sufficient federal manipulation or control is

“substantial; the [defendant] must demonstrate that the [tribal] officials had little or

no independent volition in the [tribal] proceedings.”  Zone, 403 F.3d at 1105 (quoting

United States v. Liddy, 542 F.2d 76, 79 (D.C. Cir. 1976)).  While multi-jurisdictional

central funding and pooling of investigatory capabilities may not be unique, the very

power to operate and the dependent source of funding is.

Here, much more than close coordination and resource-sharing exists.  The

federal authorities actually exclusively provide resources through the Departments

of Justice (FBI) and Interior (BIA).  Indeed, the exercise of federal control here

creates a de facto divestiture of tribal sovereignty giving rise to the level of collusion
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necessary to meet the Bartkus exception.  The Tribe does not just merely cooperate

with the federal government.  Rather, the nature of the dealings between the Tribe and

the federal government subjugates tribal law – be it from the law enforcement

authority operating on tribal land or through tribal court personnel.  This is unlike the

relationship between state and federal governments.  In fact, the financial and

regulatory control exercised by federal authorities makes the Tribe a subject entity. 

The Tribe operates only because the federal government allows it to do so

within certain closely defined parameters.  See e.g., Exhibit 502, pp. 1-6, 10-11,

Constitution of the Northern Cheyenne Tribe (with its numerous requirements for

approval by the Secretary of the Interior, including approval of any constitutional

amendments).  “The political future of the tribe is determined by the federal

government, reminiscent of the paternal policies aimed at assimilation.”  Sheldon

Spotted Elk, Northern Cheyenne Tribe: Traditional Law & Constitutional Reform,

Tribal Law Journal, Vol. 11, p. 16 (2012).

IV. Conclusion

This prosecution is barred by the Double Jeopardy clause.  The Northern

Cheyenne Tribe is not a truly self-governing sovereign political community.  The

Tribe is a dependent entity, subject to federal government decision-makers, so the

Dual Sovereignty Doctrine does not apply. Alternatively, even if deemed two

Federal Defenders of Montana P:\Gallagher\DOCS\BearComesOut\CourtDocs\Mtn_Dism_Memo.wpd
2702 Montana Avenue
Billings, MT 59101

15

Case 1:16-cr-00013-SPW   Document 26   Filed 06/16/16   Page 15 of 17



sovereigns under current law, because control exercised by federal authorities

extraordinarily and thoroughly dominates the Northern Cheyenne tribal government,

successive prosecutions are impermissible under the Double Jeopardy clause of the

Fifth Amendment in accord with the Bartkus exception to the Dual Sovereignty

Doctrine.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 16th day of June, 2016.

/s/ Anthony R. Gallagher                             

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE – L.R. CR 47.2(a), (c)

Anthony R. Gallagher of the Federal Defenders of Montana hereby certifies

that the Memorandum in Support is in compliance with Local Rule CR 47.2.  The

Memorandum’s line spacing is double spaced (except quotations), and is

proportionately spaced, with a 14-point font size and contains less than 6,500 words. 

(Total number of words: 3,311, excluding captions and certificates).

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 16th day of June, 2016.

/s/ Anthony R. Gallagher                      
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE - L.R. 5.2(b)

I hereby certify that on June 16, 2016, a copy of the foregoing document was

served on the following persons by the following means:

1, 2      CM-ECF
    3    Mail

1. CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT

2. KRIS A. McLEAN
JOHN D. SULLIVAN
Assistant United States Attorneys
United States Attorney’s Office

Counsel for the United States 

 3. TAWNYA BEARCOMESOUT
Defendant

/s/ Anthony R. Gallagher                             
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